FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
9/5/2023 2:07 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/6/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 57026-2

102348-1

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DANIEL BRAY, individually, and JOEY TRACY, individually,

Petitioners,

v.

PIERCE COUNTY, a subdivision of the State of Washington,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

D.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE					
E.		ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED7				
	(1)	of Pro	ion II Misstated the Necessary Elements oof of Wrongful Discharge and ation			
		(a)	The Deputies Were Wrongfully Discharged8			
		(b)	The Deputies' Upholding of the Public Policy Against Giving Firearms to DV Perpetrators Was a Substantial Factor in Their Wrongful Discharge			
	(2)		ion II Misapplied the Doctrine of ial Estoppel			
	(3)		ion II's Opinion Condones lue Code of Silence			

F.	CONCLUSION	29
Appe	ndix	

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Table of Cases
Table of Cases
Washington Cases
Allstot v. Edwards,
116 Wn. App. 424, 65 P.3d 696,
review denied, 150 Wn.2d 1016 (2003) 10, 12, 14
Arkison v. Ethan Allen, Inc.,
160 Wn.2d 535, 160 P.3d 13 (2007)20, 25
Barnett v. Sequim Valley Ranch, LLC,
174 Wn. App. 475, 302 P.3d 500,
review denied, 178 Wn.2d 1014 (2013)8
Bray v. Pierce County,
16 Wn. App. 2d 1001, 2021 WL 37559 (2021)2
Dillon v. Seattle Police Pension Bd.,
82 Wn. App. 168, 916 P.2d 956 (1996)24
Fell v. Spokane Transit Auth.,
128 Wn.2d 618, 911 P.2d 1319 (1995)17
Harris v. Drake,
152 Wn.2d 480, 99 P.3d 872 (2004)14
Hartman v. Young Men's Christian Ass'n of Greater Seattle,
191 Wn. App. 1005, 2015 WL 6872184
In re CIR of Amburgey and Volk,
8 Wn. App. 2d 779, 440 P.3d 1069 (2019)20
Johnson v. Weyerhaeuser Co.,
134 Wn.2d 795, 953 P.2d 800 (1998)19
Korslund v. DynCorp Tri-Cities Servs., Inc.,
156 Wn.2d 168, 125 P.3d 119 (2005), overruled on other
grounds in Rose v. Anderson Hay & Grain Co.,
184 Wn.2d 268, 258 P.3d 139 (2015)passim
Mackay v. Acorn Custom Cabinetry, Inc.,
127 Wn.2d 302, 898 P.2d 284 (1995)16

Martin v. Gonzaga Univ.,
191 Wn.2d 712, 425 P.3d 837 (2018)
Paddock v. Port of Tacoma, Wn. App. 2d,
531 P.3d 278 (2023)17
Petersen v. McCormic,
9 Wn. App. 2d 1056, 2019 WL 2950187 (2019) 20
Pfeiffer v. Pro-Cut Concrete Cutting & Breaking, Inc.,
6 Wn. App. 2d 803, 431 P.3d 1018 (2018),
review denied, 193 Wn.2d 1006 (2019)7, 8
Ranger Ins. Co. v. Pierce County,
164 Wn.2d 545, 192 P.3d 886 (2008)3
Rickman v. Premera Blue Cross,
184 Wn.2d 300, 358 P.3d 1153 (2015)17
Ritchey v. Sound Recovery Centers, LLC,
14 Wn. App. 2d 1063, 2020 WL 6146462 (2020) 10
Scrivener v. Clark Coll.,
181 Wn.2d 439, 334 P.3d 541 (2014)17
Shaw v. Dep't of Retirement, Syst.,
193 Wn. App. 122, 371 P.3d 106 (2016)24, 25, 27
Snyder v. Med. Serv. Corp. of E. Wash.,
145 Wn.2d 233, 35 P.3d 1158 (2001)
State v. E.J.J.,
183 Wn.2d 497, 354 P.3d 815 (2015)29
Stone v. City of Seattle,
64 Wn.2d 166, 391 P.2d 179 (1964)
Sutton v. Shufelberger,
31 Wn. App. 579, 643 P.2d 920 (1982)
Wilmot v. Kaiser Aluminum and Chemical Corp.,
118 Wn.2d 46, 821 P.2d 18 (1991)16, 17
Woldrich v. Vancouver Police Pension Bd.,
84 Wn. App. 387, 928 P.2d 423 (1996)24
Xieng v. People's Nat'l Bank of Wash.,
63 Wn. App. 572, 821 P.2d 520 (1991), aff'd,
120 Wn.2d 512, 844 P.2d 389 (1993)14

Federal Cases

Iennings v. Stevens County,
2010 WL 3516914 (E.D. Wash. 2010)
Keefe v. Crowne Plaza Hotel Seattle,
2017 WL 1210224 (W.D. Wash. 2017)13
White v. Honeywell, Inc.,
141 F.3d 1270 (8th Cir. 1998)
State Statutes
RCW 41.26.47021, 22, 24
RCW 41.26.470(9)21-29
RCW 49.608
Rules
RAP 13.4(b)
RAP 13.4(b)(1)passim
RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2)
RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (4)
RAP 13.4(b)(2)12, 25, 27
RAP 13.4(b)(4)
Regulations
WAC 415-104-480(2)
Other Authorities
Krell, Sheriff's Department accused of cover up, retaliation in connection with homicide case, The News Tribune (Mar. 17, 2018), thenews.tribune.com/news/local/crime/article 205612084.html

Connie Felix Chen, Freeze, You're on Camera: Can Body
Cameras Improve American Policing on the Streets and at
the Borders, 48 U. Miami Inter-Am. L. Rev. 141 (2017) 28
Gabriel J. Chin, Scott C. Wells, The "Blue Wall of Silence" as
Evidence of Bias and Motive to Lie: A New Approach to
Police Perjury, 59 U. Pitt. L. Rev. 233 (1998)
https://www.seattletimes.com/opinion/editorials/keep-guns-
away-from-people-charged-with-domestic-violence/2
Myriam F. Giles, Breaking the Code of Silence: Rediscovering
"Custom" in Section 1983 Municipal Liability,
80 B. U. L. Rev. 17 (2000)

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Daniel Bray and Joey Tracy, former Pierce County Sheriff's Department ("PCSD") deputies ("the deputies"), seek review by this Court of the Division II opinion terminating review described in Part B.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Division II filed its opinion on July 18, 2023; that opinion is in the Appendix. The deputies moved for reconsideration, and the Court denied the motion on August 17, 2023. The order is in the Appendix. Division II's opinion represents a cascading series of errors requiring review by this Court.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did Division II erroneously conflate the wrongful discharge and causation elements of the tort of wrongful discharge in violation of public policy?
- 2. Did Division II erroneously apply judicial estoppel as to proceedings for LEOFF employees' long-term disability, misapplying its own precedents on such proceedings?
- 3. Are deputies with pre-existing health conditions exacerbated by their employer's retaliation for

upholding the vital public policy against providing firearms to domestic violence ("DV") perpetrators and who are medically separated, constructively discharged in light of this Court's *Korslund* decision?

4. Did Division II err in ruling on causation where the deputies provided substantial evidence that their conduct in upholding the public policy against providing firearms to DV perpetrators and the County's retaliation against them for doing so were a substantial factor in exacerbating their health condition that led to their discharge?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The facts here are well-articulated in *Bray v. Pierce County*, 16 Wn. App. 2d 1001, 2021 WL 37559 (2021) ("*Bray* Γ "). By contrast, Division II's opinion provides a completely sanitized version of the egregious retaliation the deputies experienced for reporting the violation of the public policy against providing firearms to DV perpetrators by their fellow

¹ Division II there concluded that a clear public policy existed, barring access by DV perpetrators to firearms. The Seattle *Times* editorialized on the need to uphold that policy on July 18, 2023. https://www.seattletimes.com/opinion/editorials/keep-guns-away-from-people-charged-with-domestic-violence/

deputies, dismissing them merely as actions the deputies "perceived to be retaliation." Op. at 2-3.2

Deputies Bray/Tracy's report to their supervisors that PCSD deputies³ provided the murder weapon to a DV perpetrator who killed his wife and himself, angered their fellow deputies who felt that Bray/Tracy, by refusing to look the other way and participate in the cover-up, were violating a "Blue Code of Silence" that exists among police officers. CP 195-96, 218-20. Rather than taking responsibility for providing an angry, dangerous DV perpetrator with a gun and bullets and putting his battered spouse in severe danger, PCSD instead landed hard on the deputies and threatened in the media to take this

² In addressing whether a genuine issue of material fact is present, Division II should have construed the facts, and reasonable inferences from the facts, in a light most favorable to the non-moving parties, Bray/Tracy. *Ranger Ins. Co. v. Pierce County*, 164 Wn.2d 545, 552, 192 P.3d 886 (2008). It did the exact opposite of that in providing its euphemized version of the gross retaliation against both deputies by their fellow deputies.

³ One of those deputies, Ara Steben, was later one of their principal harassers. Br. of Appellants at 6-7.

whistleblower retaliation lawsuit "all the way to the mat." Alexis Krell, Sheriff's Department accused of cover up, retaliation in connection with homicide case, The News Tribune, thenews.tribune.com/news/local/crime/article 205612084.html.

Prior to speaking up about PCSD's violation of law and PCSD policy in the Annas murder-suicide, both deputies had exemplary records. CP 600-01, 671-72. Neither had been disciplined by the PCSD. CP 93-94, 600-01, 671-72.

When it became clear that the deputies would not "look the other way," PCSD sought to silence and discredit them. CP 69, 195-96, 218-20. Other PCSD deputies began a malicious campaign of retaliation against Bray/Tracy that included fabricated disciplinary charges, open harassment and disparagement, the undermining of their work and credibility, systematic petty and unrelenting bullying, and other unfair treatment. CP 600-08, 671-78. Supervisors began to discredit the deputies, threaten their jobs, and change their schedules abruptly only to reinstate their prior schedules. *Id.* A PCSD

supervisor even sent an email throughout the Department describing efforts to oust them from employment, ordering that PCSD should not assist the deputies so "They can sink on their own." CP 595.

The retaliation worsened. Deputy Bray was prevented from being in Bonney Lake (a large part of his patrol district) and barred from search and rescue; he was required to obtain supervisory approval for routine tasks such as obtaining warrants, towing cars, and investigating crimes. CP 604-05.

Deputy Tracy was subjected to uninvited house visits, intrusive monitoring, false criminal accusations,⁴ physical assault, and even false imprisonment, all intending to intimidate and silence him. CP 675-76. Some of the more outrageous examples of retaliation included:

• PCSD deputies initiating and pursuing fabricated criminal charges against him;

⁴ The fabricated charges against Tracy were dismissed shortly after being brought against him. CP 676.

- PCSD deputies fully armed and in body armor tore through Tracy's home, gratuitously breaking his furniture, and improperly seizing personal items;
- Physically assaulting Tracy outside of his therapist's office while he was in sweatpants;
- Arresting and shackling Tracy on the fabricated criminal charges;
- Conducting a policy-violating strip search of Tracy solely for the purpose of humiliating him;
- Keeping Tracy in a small jail cell;
- Denying Tracy medical care;
- Forcing Tracy to urinate in his pants;
- Parading him around the jail to "teach him a lesson."

CP 675-76.

Both deputies had PTSD (at first undiagnosed) from a prior February 27, 2015, duty-related incident that was made worse by the Annas DV incident. CP 606-08, 676-77, 702-05. Three medical professionals testified that PTSD and its exacerbation by PCSD's misconduct, a fact nowhere mentioned in Division II's opinion. CP 702-05, 707-08, 711.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

To a casual reader, Division II's opinion is about judicial estoppel. It is not. Rather, Division II misapplies the law on the tort of wrongful discharge in violation of public policy, collapsing the requisite elements of the tort. It then misapplies the doctrine of judicial estoppel to justify its resolution of the issues, based on those improperly collapsed elements and its application of a regulation not yet even in effect. Ultimately, its opinion will give a safe home to the terrible concept of the Blue Code of Silence. Review is merited. RAP 13.4(b).

(1) <u>Division II Misstated the Necessary Elements of Proof of Wrongful Discharge and Causation</u>

Division II's opinion rests on an initial flatly erroneous conclusion, derived from *Pfeiffer v. Pro-Cut Concrete Cutting & Breaking, Inc.*, 6 Wn. App. 2d 803, 431 P.3d 1018 (2018), *review denied*, 193 Wn.2d 1006 (2019), that the elements of constructive discharge and causations for the tort must be collapsed; the defendant's wrongful conduct must be the "sole cause" of the

employee's separation from employment. Op. at 9.5 Division III, however, noted at 830 that its analysis applied *only* in a "hybrid case," *i.e.*, an RCW 49.60 case involving both discharge under that statute, and a wage loss claim, which this is *not*. Such an analysis is unsupported in this Court's jurisprudence and would contravene numerous decisions of this Court treating discharge and causation as *distinct* elements of the tort. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

(a) The Deputies Were Wrongfully Discharged

A wrongful discharge can be direct or constructive. *Snyder v. Med. Serv. Corp. of E. Wash.*, 145 Wn.2d 233, 238, 35 P.3d 1158 (2001). In *Barnett v. Sequim Valley Ranch*, LLC, 174 Wn. App. 475, 302 P.3d 500, *review denied*, 178 Wn.2d 1014 (2013), Division II examined the four-factor test for proving constructive discharge, including the element that the employee

⁵ In *Pfeiffer*, Division III actually *reversed* a trial court judgment as a matter of law that constructive discharge had not occurred.

"quit because of the conditions and not for any other reason." *Id*. at 489-90. The court wrote that the test for constructive discharge comes down to a question of "choice." A plaintiff has a claim if the record shows that working conditions become so intolerable that a plaintiff reasonably believes they "have no alternative but to resign their position[]." *Id.* at 490. This tracks this Court's Korslund decision discussed infra. But because an employer will rarely fire an employee for upholding a vital public policy, constructive discharges are more common; such discharges are usually more subtle, and the facts of the employer's conduct are ever the more consequential. Those facts should be evaluated by a jury, not a judge ruling as a matter of law.

Constructive discharge generally occurs where the employer makes the working conditions so intolerable that a reasonable person is forced to leave the employment; intolerable conditions may include aggravating circumstances or a continuous pattern of discriminatory treatment and is a jury

question. *Allstot v. Edwards*, 116 Wn. App. 424, 433, 65 P.3d 696, *review denied*, 150 Wn.2d 1016 (2003). In *Ritchey v. Sound Recovery Centers, LLC*, 14 Wn. App. 2d 1063, 2020 WL 6146462 (2020) at *11, (Division II upholds a jury verdict because a court could not rule on for constructive discharge as "a matter of law," because whether an employer "made working conditions intolerable and would have forced a reasonable person in [the plaintiff's] position to resign" is a question of fact that "necessarily involves subjective determinations.").

Division II suggests in a footnote, op. at 9 n.4, that in order for an employee to be constructively discharged, the employee's separation from employment must be the "sole cause" of intolerable conditions on the job. In making that statement, Division II *ignores* this Court's precedent. Central to the issue of discharge here is this Court's determination that conduct exacerbating an employee's pre-existing medical condition leading to the employee's separation from employment may constitute a constructive discharge:

We agree that an employee who is forced to permanently leave work for medical reasons may have been constructively discharged. Deliberately creating conditions so intolerable as to make the employee so ill that he or she must leave work permanently is functionally the same as forcing the employee to quit.

Korslund v. DynCorp Tri-Cities Servs., Inc., 156 Wn.2d 168, 180, 125 P.3d 119 (2005), overruled on other grounds in Rose v. Anderson Hay & Grain Co., 184 Wn.2d 268, 258 P.3d 139 (2015). When a worker leaves employment due to health, they are constructively discharged if it results from intolerable conditions. Id. (citing White v. Honeywell, Inc., 141 F.3d 1270, 1279 (8th Cir. 1998)). The Korslund court upheld Division III's conclusion that taking medical leave could be a constructive discharge, adopting the Eighth Circuit analysis in White that the situation in which an employee does not "quit" but is instead forced out of work through medical complications, a constructive discharge is present. Id. at 179-80.6 Division II's opinion fails

⁶ This principle was not overruled by *Rose*, a decision that *broadened* the common law's protections for whistleblowers.

to even address this crucial holding from *Korslund*, creating intolerable conflicts that this Court should resolve. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

Courts have readily concluded that exacerbation of an employee's pre-existing health condition making working conditions intolerable may constitute a constructive discharge, further highlighting the conflicts Division II's opinion creates. RAP 13.4(b)(2). See, e.g., Allstot, 116 Wn. App. at 429 (police officer gave three reasons for intolerable conditions constituting constructive discharge; Division II held that while the three facts separately may not equal intolerable conditions, together they establish a pattern of intolerable working conditions); *Hartman* v. Young Men's Christian Ass'n of Greater Seattle, 191 Wn. App. 1005, 2015 WL 6872184 (in WLAD case, citing Korslund, Division I discerned fact issue on constructive discharge where failure to accommodate health condition worsened by employer retaliation); Jennings v. Stevens County, 2010 WL 3516914, at *7 (E.D. Wash. 2010) (district court denied county's summary

judgment on constructive discharge where there was fact question over whether intolerable working conditions exacerbated plaintiff's underlying ADHD and other disorders leading to her separation from employment); *Keefe v. Crowne Plaza Hotel Seattle*, 2017 WL 1210224 (W.D. Wash. 2017) (employer constructively discharged employee by refusing to accommodate her to prevent contact by fellow employee who allegedly physically and sexually assaulted, thereby exacerbating her PTSD and causing her to leave employment)..

Ultimately, not only is Division II's exceedingly narrow conception of what constitutes a "discharge" unsupported in the case law, it is exceedingly bad public policy as well.⁷ A court

The County expressly argued the horrible position below, despite *Korslund*, that if an employee leaves service for medical reasons, they can *never* establish the wrongful discharge tort. CP 506 ("Under Washington law, a wrongful termination claim premised on constructive discharge requires the plaintiff to prove that their employer deliberately made their working conditions intolerable and that he or she resigned or retired *because of these conditions, not any other reason.*") (County's emphasis); CP 516.

must take the plaintiff as it finds her/him, the classic "eggshell plaintiff." *See*, *e.g.*, *Harris v. Drake*, 152 Wn.2d 480, 99 P.3d 872 (2004); *Xieng v. People's Nat'l Bank of Wash.*, 63 Wn. App. 572, 582-83, 821 P.2d 520 (1991), *aff'd*, 120 Wn.2d 512, 844 P.2d 389 (1993) (affirming the trial court's finding that the employer was liable for aggravating employee's pre-existing PTSD). Consistent with this tort principle, a constructive discharge occurs if an employer's conduct was "an aggravating circumstance" that made a bad situation become "intolerable." *Allstot*, 116 Wn. App. at 433-34.

Few employers simply fire employees because they advance key public policies. Rather, as here, they make life miserable for employees who have the fortitude to fight for important policies or blow the whistle. The trial court's decision, upheld by Division II's refusal to address it, would only serve to allow employers to so intensely harass troublesome employees who had the courage to advance important public policies that they would leave employment for medical reasons. Such an

atrocious public policy ill benefits the rationale for the tort – to uphold vital public policies. This further warrants review, as this Court should clarify that the tort of wrongful discharge still has teeth to protect citizens of this state from unlawful abuse. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Bray/Tracy were discharged when the County's actions exacerbated their pre-existing PTSD and forced them from their law enforcement service. This Court must uphold its analysis in *Korslund*. Review is merited. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

(b) The Deputies' Upholding of the Public Policy Against Giving Firearms to DV Perpetrators Was a Substantial Factor in Their Wrongful Discharge

In collapsing the discharge and causation elements of the tort, Division II evades this Court's clear case law establishing that the causation element of the tort of wrongful discharge in violation of public policy only requires that the violation be a "substantial factor" in the employee's discharge. Instead, Division II asserts that the tort requires proof that the employee's

departure from employment was caused *solely* by his or her upholding the public policy. Op. at 9. Division II's opinion conflicts with this Court's established precedent. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

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