# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/5/2023 4:16 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 102348-1

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 57026-2

### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, DIVISION II

DANIEL BRAY, individually, and JOEY TRACY, individually,

Appellants,

v.

PIERCE COUNTY, a subdivision of the State of Washington,

Respondent.

### RESPONDENT PIERCE COUNTY'S RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

### CORR CRONIN LLP

Steven W. Fogg, WSBA No. 23528
Blake Marks-Dias, WSBA No. 28169
John T. Bender, WSBA No. 49658
Maia R. Robbins, WSBA No. 54451
Mark Rutherford, WSBA No. 57519
1015 Second Avenue, Floor 10
Seattle, Washington 98104-1001
Tel: 206-625-8600

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

### IV. ARGUMENT FOR WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Petitioners fail to identify any grounds warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), or (4). Petitioners do not identify a single Washington case that conflicts with Division Two's unpublished decision. Nor do Petitioners raise any issue of "substantial public interest" regarding the narrow issue Division Two resolved in its unpublished opinion based on this specific set of facts. The Court should deny review.

### A. Division Two applied the correct test to prove a claim for constructive discharge.

The petition fails because Petitioners have not identified any precedent from this Court or the Court of Appeals that rejects the four-element test for constructive discharge that Division Two properly applied *or* any authority requiring a court to apply a "substantial factor" test on a claim for wrongful termination through constructive discharge in violation of public policy.

# 1. Division Two followed published Court of Appeals precedent when applying the elements of wrongful termination through constructive discharge.

"The tort for wrongful discharge in violation of public policy is a narrow exception to the at-will doctrine." *See Becker v. Cmty. Health Sys., Inc.*, 184 Wn.2d 252, 258, 359 P.3d 746 (2015). To prevail on a claim for wrongful discharge/termination, a plaintiff must prove (1) that the employee's "discharge may have been motivated by reasons that contravene a clear mandate of public policy"; and (2) that the "public-policy-linked conduct was a 'significant factor' in the decision to discharge the [employee]." *Martin v. Gonzaga Univ.*, 191 Wn.2d 712, 725, 425 P.3d 837 (2018).

Constructive discharge is an even narrower exception to this already narrow exception to Washington's at-will employment doctrine. Where, as here, Petitioners have asserted a claim for wrongful termination through constructive discharge in violation of public policy, they must prove a narrow and specific set of elements separate and apart from the elements required to prove wrongful termination in violation of public policy. See EMPLOYMENT DISCRIMINATION—CONSTRUCTIVE DISCHARGE—BURDEN OF PROOF, 6A WASH. PRACT., WASH. PATTERN JURY INSTR. CIV. WPI 330.52 (7th ed.).

The case law establishing the elements for constructive discharge is well-settled in Washington. As Division Two properly recognized, the two elements of wrongful discharge are modified where a plaintiff asserts a "hybrid" claim for wrongful termination *through constructive discharge* in violation of public policy:

When a hybrid claim is asserted, the elements of a constructive discharge claim supplant the second element of the wrongful termination in violation of a public policy claim. The first element of the tort claim applies, although it is modified to address whether the intolerable condition that led the employee to resign contravened a clear mandate of public policy. All four elements of a constructive discharge claim apply.

Peiffer, Wn. App. 2d at 830 (emphasis added).

"The [four] elements of constructive discharge are that (1) the employer deliberately made working conditions intolerable, (2) a reasonable person in the employee's position would be forced to resign, (3) the employee resigned because of the

Datition and aggant

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Petitioners assert—without any citation—that the analysis in *Peiffer* "only" applies in instances involving a wage loss claim and a claim for wrongful termination. Where no authorities are cited in support of a proposition, the Court "may assume that counsel, after diligent search, has found none." *DeHeer v. Seattle Post-Intelligencer*, 60 Wn.2d 122, 195, 372 P.2d 193 (1962).

intolerable working condition *and not for any other reason*, and (4) the employee suffered damages as a result of being forced to resign." *Id.* at 829 (emphasis added) (citing *Barnett v. Sequim Valley Ranch, LLC*, 174 Wn. App. 475, 489, 302 P.3d 500, *rev. denied*, 178 Wn.2d 1014 (2013)).

"Numerous Washington cases establish that these four elements are necessary for a wrongful constructive discharge claim." *Barnett*, 174 Wn. App. at 489. *See, e.g., Haubry v. Snow*, 106 Wn. App. 666, 667, 31 P.3d 1186 (2001) (Division One holding that an employee asserting claim for constructive discharge "must prove," in part, that "she did quit because of the [intolerable] conditions and not for any other reason); *Crownover v. State ex rel. Dep't of Transp.*, 165 Wn. App. 131, 149, 265 P.3d 971 (2011), *rev. denied*, 173 Wn.2d 1030 (2012) (Division Three holding that an employee "must show" that "the employee resigned solely because of the intolerable conditions").

In other words, all three divisions of the Court of Appeals require plaintiffs asserting a wrongful termination through constructive discharge in violation of public policy to prove that they left their position due to intolerable working conditions and not for any other reason. Division Two properly applied this well-established standard to conclude that Petitioners' sworn testimony established that their separation from the County was

*not* due solely to alleged retaliation or any other allegedly intolerable working conditions.

Further, no question of fact warrants this Court's review: Petitioners' own testimony and records, plus their healthcare providers' statements, prove as a matter of law that Petitioners resigned due to the PTSD they suffered from witnessing a murder-suicide while on duty. *See* Resp. Br. 5–18. These undisputed facts conclusively foreclose Petitioners from recovery under a theory of constructive discharge. *Peiffer*, 6 Wn. App. 2d at 830.

Division Two's Opinion is entirely consistent with established Court of Appeals precedent. Review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(2).

2. Division Two's opinion does not conflict with this Court's precedent because this Court has never applied the "substantial factor" test to cases involving claims for constructive discharge.

Review is similarly not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1). Contrary to Petitioners' assertions, there is no precedent—from either this Court or the Court of Appeals<sup>4</sup>—holding that the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Contrary to Petitioners' assertions, Division Two's recently published opinion in *Paddock v. Port of Tacoma*, \_\_ Wn. App. 2d \_\_, 531 P.3d 278 (2023) is not inconsistent with the unpublished Opinion. *Paddock* did not involve a claim for constructive discharge. The plaintiff brought a claim for wrongful termination in violation of public policy after being

"substantial factor" test must be applied in cases where a claim for constructive discharge is pled. In so arguing, Petitioners willfully ignore that <u>none</u> of their cited "precedent" applies the "substantial factor" test in cases involving constructive discharge. Indeed, this Court has <u>never</u> held that the test for proving constructive discharge includes a "substantial factor" test. Petitioners have failed to establish any conflict between Division Two's Opinion and this Court's precedent. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

First, Petitioners improperly argue that *Korslund v. DynCorp Tri-Cities Servs. Inc.*, 156 Wn.2d 168, 180, 125 P.3d 119 (2005) conflicts with Division Two's unpublished decision. In *Korslund*, this Court recognized that "an employee who is forced to permanently leave work for medical reasons *may* have been constructively discharged," such as where an employer is "[d]eliberately creating conditions so intolerable as to make the employee so ill that [they] must leave work permanently." *Id.* (emphasis added). But the issue presented in *Korslund* was whether the employee resigned at all—not whether the plaintiff

terminated from his position. *See id.* at 280. Because he did not assert a claim for constructive discharge, the court did not need to supplant the "substantial factor" element of a wrongful termination claim with the four elements of constructive discharge, as required by *Barnett* and *Peiffer*.

could establish the resignation was *solely* due to intolerable working conditions. *See id.* at 178–80. *Korslund* did not even reach the issue of whether the plaintiffs' medical leave constituted constructive discharge: the Court concluded that the plaintiffs had failed to meet the public policy standard for their claim and upheld summary judgment in favor of the defendant employer. *Id.* at 181.

Moreover, unlike here, *Korslund* did not involve plaintiffs who had offered contradictory sworn testimony in parallel proceedings concerning the cause of their injuries. Additionally, because Petitioners are estopped from asserting that their medical separations were not caused by their PTSD from the murdersuicide, Division Two did not need to consider whether aggravation of a plaintiff's medical condition "may" constitute constructive discharge. *Korslund* is entirely distinguishable from the present case; it is certainly not in conflict with Division Two's unpublished decision.<sup>5</sup>

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Similarly, *Allstot v. Edwards* dealt with whether a plaintiff's allegations that three separate forms of alleged intolerable conditions could, collectively, establish a genuine issue as to his constructive discharge claim. 116 Wn. App. 424, 433–34, 65 P.3d 696 (2003). But here, Petitioners allege (if they are not estopped from doing so) that a combination of intolerable conditions and preexisting PTSD resulted in their discharge. And none of *Jennings v. Stevens Cty.*, No. CV-09-219-LRS, 2010 WL 3516914 (E.D. Wash. Sept. 3, 2010), *Keefe v. Crowne Plaza* 

Second, Petitioners' authority purportedly "rejecting" the sole cause element or applying the "substantial factor" test, Petition 16–17, are inapposite because they do not involve claims for constructive discharge. See, e.g., Wilmot v. Kaiser Aluminum and Chemical Corp., 118 Wn.2d 46, 51, 821 P.2d 18 (1991) (claim for retaliation); Mackay v. Acorn Custom Cabinetry, Inc., 127 Wn.2d 302, 306, 898 P.2d 284 (1995) (claim for gender discrimination); Martin v. Gonzaga Univ., 191 Wn.2d 712, 725, 425 P.3d 837 (2018) (claim for wrongful discharge in violation of public policy without constructive discharge); Rickman v. Premera Blue Cross, 184 Wn.2d 300, 314, 358 P.3d 1153 (2015) (claim for wrongful discharge in violation of public policy without constructive discharge); Scrivener v. Clark College, 181 Wn.2d 439, 444, 334 P.3d 541 (2014) (claim for ageism under the WLAD).

None of these cases are inconsistent with Division Two's Opinion because they do not address claims for constructive discharge. As addressed above, Washington courts have established a separate set of requirements for proving a claim for

Hotel Seattle, 2017 WL 1210224 (W.D. Wash. 2017), or. Hartman v. Young Men's Christian Ass'n of Greater Seattle, 191 Wn. App. 1005, 2015 WL 6872184 (unpublished) involve contrary sworn testimony in prior proceedings, nor are they decisions that could trigger review under RAP 13.4(b). See also Resp. Br. 37–38.

wrongful termination through constructive discharge in violation of public policy. The cases upon which Petitioners rely are therefore inapposite and have no bearing on Division Two's analysis.

### B. Division Two's judicial estoppel ruling does not implicate RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2).

The Court of Appeals correctly ruled that Petitioners are judicially estoppped from asserting that the County's alleged retaliation "was the sole reason why their PTSD became severe enough to prevent them from performing essential job functions, eventually resulting in their discharge" due to their prior sworn statements to the DRS. Opinion 14. Petitioners fail to identify any precedent of this Court or the Court of Appeals that conflicts with Division Two's ruling so as to warrant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2).

Judicial estoppel is an equitable doctrine that precludes a party from taking incompatible positions to [their] advantage in successive court proceedings." *Haslett v. Planck*, 140 Wn. App. 660, 665, 166 P.3d 866 (2007). The doctrine also seeks "to preserve respect for judicial proceedings without the necessity of resort to the perjury statutes and to avoid inconsistency, duplicity, and the waste of time." *Id.* (ellipsis omitted). And as applies here, "judicial estoppel prevents a litigant from 'playing

fast and loose with the courts." *Id.* (quoting *Hamilton v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.*, 270 F.3d 778, 782 (9th Cir. 2001)).

Three factors typically guide the decision of whether to apply judicial estoppel:

(1) whether a party's later position is clearly inconsistent with its earlier position; (2) whether judicial acceptance of an inconsistent position in a later proceeding would create the perception that either the first or the second court was misled; and (3) whether the party seeking to assert an inconsistent position would derive an unfair advantage or impose an unfair detriment on the opposing party if not estopped.

Arkison v. Ethan Allen, Inc., 160 Wn.2d 535, 538–39, 160 P.3d 13 (2007) (quoting New Hampshire, 532 U.S. at 750–51, 121 S. Ct. 1808)) (cleaned up).

Petitioners successfully sought catastrophic disability benefits in DRS proceedings, and testified unequivocally there that they were medically separated from the County due to PTSD they suffered as a result of the February 27, 2015 murder-suicide. CP 45–47, 57 (Tracy); CP 24–29 (Bray). Catastrophic disability benefits are available to officers injured "in the line of duty," which is defined as "any action or activity occurring in conjunction with [their] employment or [their] status as a law enforcement officer . . . and required or authorized by law, rule,

regulations, or condition of employment or service." WAC 415-104-480(1); WAC 415-104-479(1).

Mental and emotional conditions arising from acts coincidentally occurring in the workplace—such as, for example, alleged retaliation—do not occur "in the line of duty" for the purposes of catastrophic disability benefits. In *Woldrich v. Vancouver Police Pension Board*, the court ruled that an officer who suffered anxiety, depression, stress, and paranoia following a demotion had not suffered a "line of duty" injury. 84 Wn. App. 387, 392–93, 928 P.2d 423 (1996). Applying *Woldrich*, if Petitioners had presented their retaliation theory to DRS, they would not have been eligible for disability benefits.

Thus, Petitioners' current theory of the cause of their medical separation—that the County exacerbated their pre-existing PTSD through alleged retaliation—directly contradicts and is clearly inconsistent with their position taken in the DRS administrative proceedings that their injuries stemmed from the February 27, 2015 incident. Acceptance of their retaliation theory would further create a perception that the DRS board was misled, and allow the Petitioners to derive an unfair advantage, by recovering twice based on two inconsistent theories of harm.<sup>6</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> See also, e.g., Paddock, 531 P.3d at 289–90 (holding plaintiff was judicially estopped from asserting a claim for post-wrongful discharge lost wages because he testified in a prior industrial

Division Two correctly applied judicial estoppel and did not conflict with any decision of this Court or the Court of Appeals in doing so. In the face of their sworn testimony to DRS, Petitioners cannot prove the third element of constructive discharge—that the discharge occurred "because of the intolerable condition and not for any other reason." *Peiffer*, 6 Wn. App. 2d at 829.

Petitioners suggest Division Two erred by disregarding Shaw v. Department of Retirement Systems, 193 Wn. App. 122, 125, 371 P.3d 106 (2016). But Shaw dealt with the narrow issue of whether DRS applied the correct "naturally and proximately" standard in assessing whether the claimant's disability arose from a "line of duty" incident. Id. On appeal, the court, the claimant and DRS agreed that the DRS presiding officer had applied the incorrect standard, and the court remanded to DRS for additional fact-finding. Id. By contrast, the court in Woldrich applied the "naturally and proximately" standard and ruled as a matter of law that the officer's claimed mental disability—which arose because of his demotion—did not arise in the line of duty.

insurance hearing that he could no longer perform his job duties, thereby precluding the claim); *Herrera v. CTS Corp.*, 183 F.Supp.2d 921, 928–29 (S.D. Tex. 2002) (holding that an ADA claimant's affidavit could not defeat a summary judgment motion because testimony from the claimant's previous SSDI claim contradicted the ADA affidavit).

84 Wn. App. at 393. Division Two's Opinion here does not conflict with *Shaw* and is consistent with *Woldrich*.

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